RECEIVED

Apr 26 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-42-03593
Appellate Case No. 2021-000707

Trina Dawkins,
as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins,

Respondent,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;
Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC;
THI of South Carolina, LLC;
THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC;
THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, LLC
d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Plaintiff’s² claims to arbitration and, in turn, denying the Other Defendants’³ corresponding motions to stay this lawsuit pending the outcome of the Facility’s motion and any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility?⁴**
- A. Did the court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? That is, did it err in not finding (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Dawkins effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?**
- B. Assuming, *arguendo*, it materially impacts Issue/Argument I.A., did the court err in allowing and relying on Melissa’s⁵ affidavit?⁶**

¹ Primarily, the “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant “THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC,” which is the correct legal name of the entity doing business as, and the sole licensee of, the skilled-nursing facility known as Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg; however, out of an abundance of caution, it is also intended to cover, to the extent necessary, the party improperly identified in this action as Defendant/Appellant “THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, LLC d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg.”

² “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Trina Dawkins, as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins. “Mr. Dawkins” is the decedent, William Dawkins.

³ The “Other Defendants” are Defendants/Appellants Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC; Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC; and THI of South Carolina, LLC, collectively. All together, the Facility and the Other Defendants are collectively referred to as “Defendants” or “Appellants.”

⁴ Out of an abundance of caution, to be clear, this issue, and the corresponding argument, challenges the circuit court’s rulings both on Appellants’ principal motions and on their subsequent motion under Rule 59(e), SCRPC.

⁵ “Melissa” is Mr. Dawkins’s daughter Melissa Dawkins.

⁶ To be clear, Appellants’ challenge to Melissa’s affidavit is made out of an abundance of caution. In other words, even assuming, *arguendo*, the court’s

- (1) **Should the court should have rejected Melissa’s affidavit, or at least allowed pertinent discovery to be conducted and the record to be supplemented before ruling on the subject motions?**
- (2) **Was it necessary for the Facility to raise arbitration as a defense in the NOI phase?**
- (3) **Did the court err in viewing Melissa’s affidavit as “the only evidence in the record concerning the circumstances of the meeting [between Melissa and the Facility’s director of admissions]”?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With Melissa’s help, Mr. Dawkins was admitted to the Facility in late April 2017. (*See* R. p. 24 ¶ 12; R. pp. 112-113; R. p. 242.) In conjunction with Mr. Dawkins’s admission, Melissa signed a number of documents on his behalf, including an Admission Agreement⁷ and an Arbitration Agreement.⁸

allowance of/reliance on Melissa’s affidavit is proper, Appellants nonetheless maintain that its denial of the subject motions was improper.

⁷ (R. pp. 157-168.)

⁸ (R. p. 105.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–16 (the “FAA”). To begin with, it expressly states that the FAA applies (R. p. 105 (“The parties acknowledge and agree that, because the services and reimbursement thereof effects a transaction that involves interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the [FAA]”)), and this must be enforced like any other contract term. *Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 430 S.C. 188, 196, 844 S.E.2d 66, 70 (Ct. App. 2020) (“We first consider whether the FAA applies. We hold it does, for two reasons. First, the [subject contract] provides the parties ‘specifically agree that this transaction involves interstate commerce.’ We must enforce this agreement like any other contract term.”) (citing *Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp.*, 343 S.C. 531, 539, 542 S.E.2d 360, 363–64 (2001) (finding FAA applied because parties had agreed contract involved interstate commerce)). Moreover, the FAA applies “to any arbitration agreement

Melissa signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “Resident’s [(i.e., Mr. Dawkins’s⁹)] Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/[Mr. Dawkins’s] Legal Guardian’/[Mr. Dawkins’s] Responsible Party.” (R. p. 157; R. p. 105.) By signing the Admission Agreement, Melissa expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce Facility to enter into th[e] Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 168.) By signing the Arbitration Agreement, Melissa expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Mr. Dawkins’s] behalf so as to bind [Mr. Dawkins] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 105.)

regarding a transaction that in fact involves interstate commerce, regardless of whether or not the parties contemplated an interstate transaction,” *Munoz*, 343 S.C. at 538, 542 S.E.2d at 363; *see also Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos., Inc. v. Dobson*, 513 U.S. 265, 268 (1995) (holding that the reach of the FAA extends to the broadest permissible exercise of Congress’s power under the Commerce Clause), and nursing home residency agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732 (2014) (“Since the Supreme Court decided *Allied–Bruce*, many—if not all—federal and state courts have held that nursing home residency contracts similar to the one at issue here implicate interstate commerce and the FAA. Generally, these holdings center on a common theme: nursing home residency contracts usually entail providing residents with meals and medical supplies that are inevitably shipped across state lines from out-of-state vendors. We likewise find the terms of the residency agreement implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA.”).

⁹ Both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement refer to Mr. Dawkins as the “Resident.” (R. pp. 157, 105.)

Alleging that Mr. Dawkins received deficient care/treatment during his residency at the Facility,¹⁰ and lumping all Defendants together as supposed owners and operators of the Facility,¹¹ Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action on October 14, 2020, in the Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County. (See R. pp. 21-29.)¹²

Citing the Arbitration Agreement that Melissa signed on behalf of Mr. Dawkins, on February 12, 2021, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff's claims to arbitration (the "Motion to Compel Arbitration"),¹³ prompting each of the Other

¹⁰ In particular, Plaintiff alleges that Mr. Dawkins did not receive proper wound care. (See R. pp. 112 ("This is a nursing negligence case. Mr. Dawkins was admitted to the . . . [F]acility . . . on April 25, 2017. The Plaintiff, acting on behalf of Mr. Dawkins' estate, alleges that over approximately the next two months Mr. Dawkins did not receive proper wound care which led to severe injuries to his legs. The Plaintiff has brought both survival and wrongful death causes of action."))

¹¹ (R. p. 24 ¶ 8 ("Upon information and belief, the Defendants own and operate a skilled nursing facility located at 375 Serpentine Drive, Spartanburg, South Carolina.")) While it is admitted that "THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC," the correct legal name of the entity doing business as Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, is the sole licensee of the Facility (R. p. 31 ¶ 5), it is denied that the Other Defendants own or operate the Facility. (R. p. 38 ¶ 6; R. p. 44 ¶ 6; R. p. 50 ¶ 6.)

¹² Defendants timely answered Plaintiff's complaint, denying liability and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 30-54.) The Facility's answer was made "*subject to and specifically reserving its right to compel this matter to arbitration and without waiving any rights to have any and all claims dismissed*" and raised arbitration as an affirmative defense or other avoidance of litigation. (R. p. 30 (emphasis in original); R. p. 33 ¶¶ 17-18.)

¹³ (R. pp. 102-104; *see also* R. pp. 119-156.) Without question, Plaintiff's claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (See R. p. 105 ("[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties

Defendants to move to stay the lawsuit pending the outcome of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility (collectively, the “Motions to Stay”). (R. pp. 106-111; *see also* R. pp. 178-192.)

Plaintiff filed a memo in opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 12, 2021. (R. pp. 112-118.) The Facility filed a memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 15, 2021. (R. pp. 119-156.) And the circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay on March 16, 2021, via Webex, the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie presiding. (R. pp. 55-91.)

During the hearing, the court (a) granted Plaintiff the option to file a post-hearing memo in reply to the Facility’s memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and (b), whether or not Plaintiff chose to do so, directed Plaintiff and Defendants to submit proposed orders. (R. pp. 88:22-90:24.)

On March 18, 2021, Plaintiff filed a reply to the Facility’s memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 139-202.) Not only that, along with

arising out of or relating to Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Dawkins’s] stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Dawkins], including but not limited to any alleged tort, personal injury, negligence or other claim; or any federal or state statutory or regulatory claim of any kind; or whether or not there has been a violation of any right or rights granted under State law (collectively ‘Disputes’), and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration”) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility, but even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in

the reply, Plaintiff filed an affidavit from Melissa,¹⁴ to which Plaintiff thereafter cited in her proposed order. (R. pp. 240-255.) By way of their proposed order, Defendants objected to and argued against the court's reliance on Melissa's unchecked affidavit. (R. pp. 256-272; *see also* R. pp. 326-330; R. pp. 294-322.)

The court denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay by order filed April 8, 2021. (R. pp. 1-14.) Although the court did not adopt Plaintiff's proposed order verbatim, its order denying the motions did reference Melissa's affidavit. (*See* R. pp. 1-14.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on Monday, April 19, 2021, Defendants timely moved the court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 273-289; *see also* R. pp. 290-293; R. pp. 15-17; R. pp. 326-330.) The court denied the motion by order filed June 1, 2021. (R. pp. 18-20.)

By notice served July 1, 2021, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 331-338.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual

favor of arbitration" *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999).

¹⁴ (R. pp. 236-269.)

findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within trial court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motions to Stay.

The relationship between the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay is such that, insofar as the circuit court was concerned, the denial of the former mooted the latter. The fates of these motions (or, more precisely, the fates of the appeals taken from the circuit court’s rulings thereon) are likewise intertwined in this Court: whether the Motions to Stay are properly viewed as moot depends on whether the Motion to Compel Arbitration was properly denied—which, most respectfully, it was not.

Accordingly, in showing that the circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the argument below also shows the court’s error in denying the Motions to Stay, which are not properly viewed as moot and should have been granted. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 3 (“If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts

of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration, the court in which such suit is pending, upon being satisfied that the issue involved in such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, *shall* on application of one of the parties *stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement*, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such arbitration.”) (emphasis added); *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 612, 571 S.E.2d 711, 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[The] FAA clearly requires a court stay ‘any suit or proceeding’ pending the arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration’ upon the application of one of the parties.”); *see also Episcopal Housing Corp. v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 641, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977) (“The fact that Federal is not a party to an arbitration agreement does not prevent an order staying the judicial proceedings pending arbitration between those who are parties to such an agreement.”).

- A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument. That is, it erred in not finding (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Mr. Dawkins effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.**

The Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is not, as the circuit court called it, “essentially an apparent agency argument, arguing that because Melissa

Dawkins signed the agreement, she must have held herself out as her father’s agent.” (R. p. 5.) To be clear, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement but rather an argument for Plaintiff—as personal representative of Mr. Dawkins’s estate—to be *estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Mr. Dawkins having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any contention about the Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of enforceability is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Facility can show that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but whether it can show that Plaintiff should be estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the Facility did so.

Re: Merger

Even though Mr. Dawkins is a nonsignatory to the Arbitration Agreement, it is nonetheless enforceable against his estate, i.e., Plaintiff.

South Carolina recognizes numerous theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to

arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel).

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger *on the specific facts of the case*, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the *general proposition of law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the AA under the Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the AA’s enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the AAs merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.

407 S.C. 346, 354–355, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed or otherwise appreciated in) *Coleman* and its progeny, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”¹⁵ as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,¹⁶ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments

¹⁵ *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

¹⁶ To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties' intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties'] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

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