**RECEIVED**

**Feb 02 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2020-CP-42-03593  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000707

---

Trina Dawkins,  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins,  
Respondent,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;  
Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC;  
THI of South Carolina, LLC;  
THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC;  
THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, LLC  
d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg,  
Appellants.

---

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The Circuit Court properly denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration along with the Motions to Stay because there was no contract between William Dawkins and the Facility.**

In determining whether a particular dispute can be compelled into arbitration, the Court must first determine whether a valid contractual agreement to arbitrate exists between the parties. The party seeking to enforce an agreement to arbitrate has the burden of establishing the existence of a valid arbitration agreement. *See Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of S.C.*, 373 S.C. 144, 149, 644 S.E.2d 705, 708 (2007); *MBNA America Bank, N.A. v. Christianson*, 377 S.C. 210, 659 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 2008). In determining whether an agreement to arbitrate exists, “the court should apply ‘ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts.’” *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 37, 524 S.E. 2d 839, 844 (Ct. App., 1999). Arbitration is available only when the parties involved contractually agree to arbitrate. *Id.* South Carolina common law requires that in order to have a valid and enforceable contract, there must be a meeting of the minds between the parties with regard to all essential and material terms of the agreement. *Player v. Chandler*, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 893 (1989). Arbitration will be denied if a court determines no agreement to arbitrate existed. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-20(a) (1978).

Appellants are effectively attempting a motion to enforce a contract. In the ordinary course, a nursing home resident who alleges injury would bring his claims before the Court as Respondent has done here and the nursing home would mount its defense in the same forum. A valid contract to arbitrate their disputes is the only way for the parties to opt out of the judicial process. Appellants had no such contract with Mr.

Dawkins. The “Arbitration Agreement” on which Appellants’ argument relies is invalid because, under bedrock contract principles, there can be no contract without the mutual assent of its proposed parties. Mr. Dawkins never signed the Arbitration Agreement and he did not empower Melissa to enter into such an agreement on his behalf. All of this is undisputed. The Appellants in this case cannot point to any evidence in the record which shows that Melissa had the legal authority bind her father to a contract of which he had no knowledge, much less to waive Mr. Dawkins’ Constitutional right to a jury trial.

This case is on all fours with several recent South Carolina cases. Perhaps the case most analogous to the instant case is *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 353, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014). *Coleman* clearly stands for the proposition that South Carolina’s Adult Health Care Consent Act allows for certain individuals, under certain conditions, to make health care conditions for patients who are unable to consent, *but that this authority absolutely does not extend to the execution of an arbitration agreement.*

The South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act provides the order of priority of persons who have authority make health care decisions for patients who are unable to consent. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-30 (2019). An inability to consent is a specific situation defined by statute, where “two licensed physicians, each of whom has examined the patient” certify that the patient lacks the ability to consent. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-66-20 (2014). This authority extends to health care decisions, and secondarily to financial decisions necessitated by those decisions. *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 353, 755 S.E.2d 450, 454 (2014). “An arbitration agreement is not considered to be a health-care decision when admission is not contingent upon its execution.”

*Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 56, 784 S.E.2d 679, 686 (Ct. App. 2016) (citing *Cook v. GGNSC Ripley, LLC*, 786 F.Supp.2d 1166, 1171).

In *Coleman*, decedent's sister did not have power of attorney – she was authorized by the Act to make medical decisions for her sister – and when placing decedent in health care facility, executed both an admission agreement and arbitration agreement on behalf of decedent. *Coleman* at 350, 755 S.E.2d at 451-52. The court held that the scope of the Act is to ensure that the patient's wishes concerning her medical treatment are honored whenever possible, and that it does not confer authority to execute a document which involves neither health care nor financial terms for payment of such care. *Id.* at 352, 755 S.E.2d at 454.

Further, the court noted the importance of the “separatedness” of the arbitration agreement and admission agreement; specifically, there was a “Residential Admission and Financial Agreement” and an “Agreement for Arbitration.” *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 454-55.

The scope of Sister's authority to consent to ‘decisions concerning Decedent's health care’ extended to the admission agreement, which was the basis upon which Facility agreed to provide health care and Sister agreed to pay for it. The separate arbitration agreement concerned neither health care nor payment, but instead provided an optional method for dispute resolution between Facility and Decedent or Sister should issues arise in the future. We therefore affirm the circuit court's holding that the Act did not confer authority on Sister to execute a document which involved neither health care nor financial terms for payment of such care.

*Id.* at 353-54, 755 S.E.2d at 454. Because admission to the facility for health-related needs was not contingent upon execution of the arbitration agreement, it could not be said that the signatory had any authority to bind the patient as to the separate, voluntary arbitration agreement. *Id.*

In the *Hodge* case, the Resident was admitted to a nursing facility while competent and without any Power of Attorney. *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 550, 813 S.E.2d 292, 295 (Ct. App. 2018). Her husband signed all paperwork on her behalf, including an arbitration agreement. *Id.* at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 296. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court’s finding that:

Husband's signing of the Arbitration Agreement, Admissions Agreement, and other forms does not make him [wife]’s agent. [Wife] did not have a health care power of attorney. Additionally, the Facility knew she was competent at the time of admission as indicated by the doctor's examination and allowed her to sign other forms. The record contains no evidence from the Facility that [Wife], as the principal, represented Husband was her agent.

*Hodge* at 573-74, 813 S.E.2d at 308. The Court found that even if the Husband did have the authority to make some decisions on her behalf, this did not extend to waiving the Constitutional right to a jury trial:

Moreover, even if Husband had authority to handle finances or make health care decisions, as Appellants contend is evidenced by Husband signing past healthcare documents, this court has held ‘the authority conveyed by a principal to an agent to handle finances or make health care decisions does not encompass executing an agreement to resolve legal claims by arbitration, thereby waiving the principal's right of access to the courts and to a jury trial.

*Id.* at 547, 813 S.E.2d at 308 (citing *Thompson*, 416 S.C. at 55, 784 S.E.2d at 686).

When Melissa signed the Arbitration Agreement and the Admission Agreement, she signed a signature block that identified her as either a “Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care,” a “Legal Guardian” for her father, or her father’s “Responsible Party.” (Arbitration Agreement, Admission Agreement p. 12). There is no evidence that she was any of these things. Mr. Dawkins certainly did not sign either of the documents. Given

that the Appellants are unable to show that Mr. Dawkins or a legally authorized representative signed the agreements, the Appellants cannot show that a meeting of the minds occurred to form a valid state law contract.

This Court should follow the well-established law and rationale from *Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*. In these cases, the Courts denied the nursing home defendants' motion to stay the action and compel arbitration because the loved one of the resident who signed the arbitration and/or admission agreements lacked capacity to bind the Resident to the arbitration agreement. In these cases, the person signing the agreement was not an authorized agent of the Resident of the facility and lacked the authority to bind that individual to an arbitration agreement, even if that individual did have the authority to make healthcare decisions for the Resident. That same result should follow in this case.

**II. The Circuit Court properly rejected the Appellants' merger and equitable estoppel arguments.**

Given that the Appellants are unable to demonstrate that the parties in this case have an actual agreement to submit their claims to arbitration, the Appellants have a fallback position that works as follows: Despite lacking any actual legal authority to do so, Melissa signed a separate admission agreement, which thus merged with the otherwise invalid arbitration agreement; given that Mr. Dawkins supposedly benefited from the provisions of this Admission Agreement (or his daughter is guilty of fraud, of which the facility was a completely unwitting victim), his daughter's signature on the Admission Agreement should estopp his estate from denying enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement. This argument fails for numerous reasons.

The entire argument is premised upon the idea that the two agreements merged, and everything else necessarily follows therefrom. However, the evidence of the record does not support merger, and the Circuit Court found that the two agreements had not merged. Particularly, the Court found that the two agreements were separate documents; contemplated interpretation under different bodies of law; were separately paginated, titled, and named; and had separate signature blocks. (Order Denying MTCA and Motions to Stay, p. 11). These findings were in line with well-established South Carolina law on this issue.

Merger does not occur where the documents recognize the “separatedness” of the arbitration agreement, which is indicative of an intent that the common law doctrine of merger not apply. *See Coleman* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. In *Coleman*, Ann Coleman signed several documents, including arbitration agreements, when admitting her sister to a health care facility, and the facility made a similar merger/estoppel argument that the Appellants make in this case. *Id.* The circuit court denied the motion to compel in *Coleman. Id.* On appeal, the *Coleman* court found the language in the section titled “Entirety of Agreement” “recognizes the ‘separatedness’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.” *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Furthermore, the court noted that the “Entirety of Agreement” clause creates an ambiguity as to merger, and “the law is clear that any ambiguity...is construed against the drafter...” *Id.* at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455. The *Coleman* court ruled the circuit court properly denied [the health care facility's] equitable estoppel arguments because no merger occurred. *Id.* at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

Additionally, merger does not occur where an arbitration agreement and admission agreement are governed by different law, reference each other separately, provide different mechanisms by which they can be revoked, are separately paginated, and have their own signature page. *See Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-563, 813 S.E.2d at 302. In *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295, Mable Hodge entered a rehabilitation facility. *Id.* Mable's husband executed various documents related to her admission, including an arbitration agreement and an admission agreement. *Id.* Mable was not present at the time her husband signed these documents on the day before her admission because she was still in the hospital. *Id.* However, Mable was competent at the time of her admission. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 296. The circuit court denied [the facility's] motion to dismiss or compel arbitration. *Id.* The facility appealed arguing the circuit court erred in finding the arbitration agreement was separate from the admissions agreement because the two documents were merged. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 556, 813 S.E.2d at 299. The Court of Appeals upheld the circuit court, finding the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

The *Hodge* Court based its rulings in part on the fact that the “Admissions Agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the Arbitration Agreement stated it was governed by federal law.” *Id.* 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Additionally, similar to *Coleman*, the Arbitration Agreement recognized separatedness because it referenced the two documents separately, “stating ‘[a]ny and all claims or controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident's Admission Agreement.’” *Id.* Furthermore, the arbitration agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, while the admission agreement did not

contain such an indication; rather, it provided the admissions agreement could only be amended by the patient with written agreement executed by the facility and the patient. *Id.* The Court noted that each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page. *Id.* Finally, signing the arbitration agreement was not a precondition to admission. *Id.* at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Based on this, the Court of Appeals found the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge. *Id.* at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Therefore, because Mable received no benefit from the arbitration agreement, equitable estoppel did not bar Mable's claims. *Id.*

The instant case has many similarities to *Coleman* and *Hodge*: the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are two separate documents; the Admission Agreement contemplates interpretation under state law while the Arbitration Agreement states that it is solely to be interpreted under federal law; the documents are separately paginated; the documents are titled separately; the documents have separate filenames; and, the documents have separate signature and date blocks. (Admission Agreement, Arbitration Agreement). The Admission Agreement also contains an Integration Clause, which states: “I/we hereby acknowledge that I/we have read this page and all preceding pages and acknowledge that this Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the parties . . . and may not be amended except by written agreement of the parties.” (Admission Agreement, p. 12). The words “arbitration,” or “alternative dispute resolution,” or other similar terms are not mentioned a single time in the Admission Agreement. One must strain logic beyond anything comprehensible to be able to make the argument that a contract with an Integration Clause, *which explicitly states that it contains the entire understanding between the parties and that other*

*writings are not part of the agreement*, actually contemplated and included an entirely separate document which is never referenced a single time.

Contrary to the Appellants' suggestion, it is not at all clear that these two documents are meant to be construed or interpreted as a single document. Given that the Facility drafted these documents, and that this is an adhesion contract, it would have been easy for them to make that fact obvious. Any 'ambiguity' should be construed against them in accordance with South Carolina law. This Court should uphold the Circuit Court's proper finding that the documents did not merge.

Even assuming *arguendo* that the Circuit Court was in error by holding that the agreements did not merge, the Appellants must still make a showing that the doctrine of equitable estoppel should apply in order to prevent the Respondent from arguing that the arbitration agreement is enforceable. The Appellants' argument clearly fails on this issue as well.

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